
  
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 25, 2021 

Sycamore Room – 1st Floor  
201 West Ash Street Mason, MI 

6:30 P.M. 
 

AGENDA 
  

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. ROLL CALL 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

A. Approval of Minutes from Regular Planning Commission Meeting on August 10, 2021. 

5. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

A. Resolutions 2021-04 and 2021-05: Alan Boyer, LSG Engineers & Surveyors, on behalf of 

Gestamp Mason, LLC, has requested approval of a Special Use Permit and Final Site Plan for 

construction of a new 49,200 sq. ft. addition on an existing 624,780 sq. ft. building to be 

used as a Finish Goods Product Storage (Low Bay) and to perform other related site 

improvements on property located at 200 E. Kipp Rd, parcel 33-19-10-16-100-024. The 

parcel is zoned M-2 General Manufacturing District.  

6. NEW BUSINESS 

7. LIAISON REPORT 

A. City Council Report 

B. City Manager Report 

8. ADJOURN 

https://www.mason.mi.us/city_departments/city_administration_.php#outer-245sub-784


 

 
Planning Commission Minutes                                                                                          August 10, 2021 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 
CITY OF MASON 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
MINUTES OF AUGUST 10, 2021 

DRAFT 
 
Sabbadin called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in person at Mason City Hall.  
 
MOTION by Waxman, second by Barna, to amend the agenda to include Oath of Office as item 2, and to 
add the text ‘Special Use Permit’ to Gestamp’s request in item 5.A.  
 
OATH OF OFFICE 
City Clerk Sara Jarvis administered the Oath of Office to Kyle Elizabeth Kirkby, Planning Commissioner 
recently appointed by City Council at their August 2 meeting. Chair Sabbadin welcomed Commissioner 
Kirkby. 
 
ROLL CALL 

Roll Call Present Absent Notes 
Commissioner Barna X   
Council Liaison Clark X   
Vice-Chair Howe  X Without notice 
Commissioner Husby  X With notice 
Commissioner Kirkby X   
Commissioner Perrault X   
Chair Sabbadin X   
Commissioner Waxman X   
Secretary Wren X  Arrived at 6:49 p.m. 

 
Also present: Elizabeth A. Hude, AICP, Community Development Director 

  
PUBLIC COMMENT 
None. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
MOTION by Waxman, second by Barna, to approve the Planning Commission meeting minutes 
from June 15, 2021.   

 
Yes (7) Barna, Clark, Kirkby, Perrault, Sabbadin, Waxman, Wren 
No (0)  
Absent (2) Howe, Husby 

 
MOTION PASSED  

 
 

   



 

 
Planning Commission Minutes                                                                                          August 10, 2021 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 PUBLIC HEARING  
A. Alan Boyer, LSG Engineers & Surveyors, on behalf of Gestamp Mason, LLC, has requested approval 

of a Final Site Plan and Special Use Permit for construction of a new 49,200 sq. ft. addition on an existing 
624,780 sq. ft. building to be used as a Finish Goods Product Storage (Low Bay) and to perform other 
related site improvements on property located at 200 E. Kipp Rd, parcel 33-19-10-16-100-024. The parcel 
is zoned M-2 General Manufacturing District.  
 
OPEN: 6:36 p.m.  CLOSED: 6:42 p.m.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: NONE 
 
DISCUSSION: Alan Boyer, LSG Engineers & Surveyors, on behalf of Gestamp Mason, LLC presented a 
summary of the project as described in the agenda packet. Director Hude provided an overview of the 
staff report and that additional information had been requested in several areas – parking, lighting, 
landscaping, sidewalks and traffic/truck routes. Mr. Boyer pointed out their statement in the packet that 
they are working with staff to address the items and take no exception to the items in the report. He 
noted additional Gestamp representatives in the audience – Jeff Bowling, Christopher Trevisan, and 
Damian Starr. 
 
Discussion between the applicant and Commissioners took place. Key points discussed included 
encouraging the applicant to utilize the provision in the ordinance to defer construction of unnecessary 
new required parking to minimize impervious surface, the history and need for sidewalk connections on 
the site, and the need for a traffic study. The applicant reported that an additional 40 trucks per day would 
visit the site, all routed through an existing high-traffic area from the Kipp Rd exit on US-127 east to turn 
right and travel south on Hull Rd, then turn left to enter on Trillium Dr. They do not intend to utilize the 
Barnes Rd exit at this time. They would like to arrange for the traffic study to be completed and made 
available at a later date as the lead time is about 4 months out for completion. Gestamp would like to 
begin construction at the end of the month, August 31. They will have the revised plans and additional 
information ready to meet the deadline for a special meeting of the PC the week of August 23. The 
Commissioners determined that Wednesday, August 25, at 6:30 p.m. would be best for attendance. 
 
MOTION by Waxman, second by Clark, to table the discussion to Wednesday, August 25, 2021 at 6:30 
p.m. 
 

Yes (7) Barna, Clark, Kirkby, Perrault, Sabbadin, Waxman, Wren 
No (0)  
Absent (2) Howe, Husby 

 
MOTION PASSED  

 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

A. Master Plan Update 
Director Hude encouraged everyone to sign up for the email updates and to anticipate a request for future 
joint PC/CC kick-off meeting in the future, possibly late September or October. 
 



 

 
Planning Commission Minutes                                                                                          August 10, 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
A. Discussion: Ordinance text amendments regarding attached garages and front yard parking 
Director Hude provided an overview of her request for guidance on a future text amendment to the 
ordinance that clarifies the community’s expectations on projecting garages. There have been different 
interpretations over the years and staff is seeking PC input on amendments to clarify existing language, 
and accommodate modern housing styles. Commissioners asked questions and discussion took place 
regarding the need for an ordinance amendment – some felt no changes were necessary; if the 
amendment should limit projecting garages at all or only in certain areas such as older neighborhoods 
with established patterns (infill) vs. newer subdivisions; and if it was necessary to regulate architectural 
details like windows in a garage door. Some expressed support for addressing the issue noting examples 
of housing that appeared to be a wall of garages and the need to consider the character of Mason. Staff 
was advised to revise the proposal and bring to the next meeting in September, removing some of the 
detail on restrictions, and to focus the amendments toward clarifying and strengthening subjective 
language.  
 
A. Discussion: Youth Advisor Role 
Youth Advisor, Thomas De LaFuente was unable to attend the meeting. Commissioners agreed to take up 
the discussion further at the September meeting when he was present. 
 
LIAISON REPORT 

A. Council Liaison Report 
Council Liaison Clark provided an update regarding actions taken at the last City Council meeting on 
August 2. 
 

B. City Manager Report  
Director Hude stated that they were still working to fix the link in the packet, and that printed copies were 
made available this evening. 
 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 8:25 p.m. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Megan Wren, Secretary  
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
TO:  Planning Commission 

FROM:  Elizabeth A. Hude, AICP, Community Development Director 

SUBJECT: 200 E. Kipp - Gestamp 

DATE:  August 19, 2021 for August 25, 2021 mtg - FINAL 

 

Alan Boyer, LSG Engineers & Surveyors, on behalf of Gestamp Mason, LLC has submitted a request for 
approval of a Special Use Permit and Final Site Plan for construction of a new 49,200 sq. ft. addition on 
an existing 624,780 sq. ft. building to be used as a Finish Goods Product Storage (Low Bay) and to 
perform other related site improvements on property located at 200 E. Kipp Rd, parcel 33-19-10-16-100-
024. The parcel is zoned M-2 General Manufacturing District.  

The applicant has submitted revised drawings to address comments and requests for additional 
information as noted in the August 10, 2021 Planning Commission packet. The revised documents were 
received Monday, August 16, 2021 and include: 

· Plans for Construction of Gestamp Expansion, prepared by LSG Engineers & Surveyors, dated 
May 24, 2021, last revised August 13, 2021: 

o Cover, Sheet C 
o As Built Site Survey – Existing Conditions, Sheet C1.0 
o Topographic Survey, Sheet C1.1 
o Overall Site Plan, Sheet C2.0 
o Overall Site Plan – Traffic Plan, Sheet C2.01 (New) 
o Overall Site Plan – Construction Phasing, Sheet C2.02 (New) 
o Detailed Demolition Plan, Sheet C2.1 
o Detailed Site Plan, Sheet C3.0 
o Detailed Sidewalk Plans, Sheet C3.1 (New) 
o Detailed Grading Plan, Sheet C4.0 
o Detailed Utility Plan, Sheet C5.0 
o Fire Main Plan and Profile, Sheet C5.1 
o Storm Drainage Plan and Profile, Sheet C5.2 
o Miscellaneous Details, Sheet C6.0 
o Fire Main Details, Sheet C6.1 
o Storm Drainage Details, Sheet C6.2 
o Soil Erosion Control Plan, Sheet C7.0 
o Soil Erosion Control Details, Sheet C7.1 
o Soil Erosion Control Notes, Sheet C7.2 
o Landscape Plan, Sheet L1.0 

  
  City of Mason 
  Planning Commission 
  Staff Report 



August 19, 2021 
Page 2 of 8 

o Site Photometric Plan, Sheet E2.0 (New) 
o Parking detail for the proposed future parking bank (New) 

 
Click here to access the packet of materials from the August 10, 2021 Planning Commission Meeting and 
Public Hearing – MEETING PACKET LINK. 
 
The applicant paid a fee of $375, and together with the plans and documents listed above, the 
application appears to satisfy the submittal requirements of Sec. 94-225(b) and 94-226(a).  

PUBLIC NOTICE 
Notice was given as required in Sec. 94-101 which requires notices to be published in a newspaper of 
general circulation, and to be mailed to owners and occupants within 300 feet of the boundary of the 
subject property. The public hearing notice was posted at City Hall and published in the Ingham County 
Community News Legal Section on Sunday, July 25, 2021; notices were mailed to owners and occupants 
on July 22, 2021. 

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE 
In the submission letter dated July 2, 2021, it states Gestamp Mason, LLC, plans to begin construction 
immediately upon approval and permitting. Building occupancy is desired in Spring of 2022 or sooner. 
The construction will happen in two phases. Phase 1 will be the road installation and Phase 2 will be the 
construction of the new 49,200 sq. ft. building addition. 

SITE HISTORY 
The facility was first constructed in 1997 beginning at 241,444 sq. ft. Expansions occurred in 2007, 2011, 
2016 resulting in the current total square footage of 624,780 sq. ft. With the proposed expansion, the 
facility will reach 673,980 total sq. ft. 
 
LAND USE/ZONING/MASTER PLAN 
The site is bordered by Kipp Road to the north, Hull Road to the west, and Trillium Drive to the south.  
The Jackson & Lansing Railroad borders the property to the east.  Approximately 850 feet of the 
Sycamore Creek crosses the northeast corner of the property.  A portion of the 100-year floodplain is 
located in northeast corner of the site. Kipp and Hull rights of way are under the jurisdiction of the 
Ingham County Road Department. The parcel is zoned M-2 General Manufacturing District. 

This is a material change to a previously approved site plan and therefore subject to Planning 
Commission review per Sec. 94-228. A Special Use Permit is required only in accordance with Sec. 94-
152(d)(1) Above ground storage of flammable liquids or combustible materials. There are above ground 
propane storage tanks being relocated on the site. The current and proposed uses are allowed by right 
under Sec. 94-152(b)(12)f. Industrial manufacturing, processing, or assembling of transportation 
equipment, such as motor vehicles and non-motorized vehicles and parts. A prior draft of the staff 
report suggested a SUP may not be required and has since been confirmed as stated here. 

 
 

https://www.mason.mi.us/08.10.2021%20PC%20PACKET.pdf


August 19, 2021 
Page 3 of 8 

The surrounding land uses and zoning are as follows: 
 

 Current Land Use Zoning Future Land Use 

North Commercial and 
Undeveloped 

C-2 (General Commercial) 
M-1 (Light Manufacturing) Mixed Use 

East Jackson and Lansing Railroad 
Vevay Township Vevay Township Vevay Township 

South Industrial and Undeveloped M-2 (Light Manufacturing) Industrial 

West Commercial, Residential 
and Vacant Residential 

C-2 (General Commercial) 
AG (Single Family Agricultural) Commercial 

 
 
The Master Plan Goal and Objectives that are most relevant include: 
 
Community Character, Historic Preservation and the Environment on p. 2-3: 
GOAL: Preserve the quiet, historical, and small-town character of Mason along with the integrity of its 
environmental resources. Objectives 1) Encourage land development designed in scale with existing 
developed areas and the dominant character of the City, through reasonable standards addressing 
density, building size, height, architectural design, setbacks, signage, opens space, and other 
development features. (cont.) 9) Maintain and beautify established and new parking areas through 
appropriate landscaping and screening. 10) Encourage landscaping and screening programs, in 
association with new commercial and industrial development, to minimize negative impacts on 
community character. 11) Encourage the preservation of open spaces and natural resources (such as 
woodlands, wetlands, and stream corridors) as part of the land development process, including the use 
of clustered housing design. 
 
Industrial Development are stated on p. 2-6: 
GOAL: Provide opportunities for the reasonable expansion of industrial development in a manner that is sensitive 
to the predominant small-town character of the community, minimizes new public service costs, and protects the 
viability and desirability of residential and commercial areas.  
Objectives: 1) Recognize the significance of key corridors such as U.S. 127 and the Jackson and Lansing Railroad as 
potential opportunities for the location of new industrial development. 2) Emphasize industrial development that 
is in character and scale with surrounding land uses and the City as a whole, considering such features as building 
size and height, architectural design, setbacks, signage, lighting, landscaping, and open spaces. 3) Encourage 
industrial development to be located in targeted areas rather than indiscriminately encroach into residential and 
commercial areas. 4) Emphasize industrial uses that have comparatively low public services and infrastructure 
needs. 5) Emphasize industrial uses that minimize negative impacts upon adjacent land uses, taking into 
consideration such factors as noise, traffic, lighting, fumes and shadow patterns. 6) Encourage industrial uses to 
locate within well-designed industrial parks, characterized by ample landscaping buffering and interior street 
systems. 7) Through site plan review proceedings, work to ensure that new industrial uses reflect a visual character 
that is complementary to the City as a whole. 8) Encourage the redevelopment and upgrading of deteriorating and 
unsightly industrial properties.  
 

https://www.mason.mi.us/document_center/Departments/Community%20Development/2%20Current%20Plans/032514%20MASTER%20PLAN%202014.pdf
https://www.mason.mi.us/document_center/Departments/Community%20Development/2%20Current%20Plans/032514%20MASTER%20PLAN%202014.pdf


August 19, 2021 
Page 4 of 8 

COMMENTS – DEPARTMENTS AND AGENCIES 
A public hearing was held on August 10, 2021 where no public comments were received. Click here to 
access the packet of materials from the August 10, 2021 Planning Commission Meeting and Public 
Hearing – MEETING PACKET LINK. 
 
Staff circulated the application and plans to city staff and agencies with jurisdiction over the project. The 
following comments were received.  
 

Engineer See email in August 10 packet. Comments have been addressed. 

Fire [City Engineer email] captures my concerns about access roads and the 
hydrant connections. Additionally, will there be any hazardous chemicals 
or products stored in the addition and are they up to date with the 
Ingham County P-2 reporting? Applicant has confirmed IC P-2 reporting is 
up to date, the new canopy will store empty steel shipping racks and 
steel baskets. 

Police Add sufficient lighting for safety and security – all entrances and 
travel/parking areas. Lighting plan addresses concerns. 

Public Works See City Engineer comments above. 

Building  A preliminary review of the applicable code references including area, 
occupant load, egress requirements, use and occupancy classification, 
etc all seem to be correct. 

Ingham County Drain 
Commission 

 SESC Permit application has been submitted and is in review. 

Ingham County Road 
Department 

 (New) See letter received August 10, 2021. Copy of Traffic Study 
requested. 

Michigan Department of 
Transportation (MDOT) 

None 

Michigan Department of 
Environment, Great Lakes, 
and Energy (EGLE) 

EGLE PERMIT NO. WRP030048 V1.0 was issued on 8/3/2021 

Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA) 

Review is pending. 

 
STAFF REVIEW 
Staff finds that the Site Plan appears to meet the standards for Final Site Plan Approval. This is based 
upon a review of the revised materials submitted. Staff has revised the sections below based upon the 
revised materials received. 
 

https://www.mason.mi.us/08.10.2021%20PC%20PACKET.pdf


August 19, 2021 
Page 5 of 8 

Section 94-191(f) of the Mason Code provides the Basis of Determination for Special Use Permits.   
Before approving a special use permit, the planning commission shall find by clear and convincing proof 
that the applicable standards set forth by this chapter shall be satisfied by the completion and operation 
of the proposed development. The planning commission shall review the particular circumstances and 
facts of each proposed use in terms of these standards and shall make written findings showing that 
such use shall: 
 
STATUS/NOTE REQUIREMENT 
M = Appears to meet requirement; D = Does not appear to meet requirement; I = Information Needed; R 
= Recommendation; W = Waiver Requested; Italics = Staff comments 

M (1) Be designed, constructed, operated, and maintained so as to be harmonious 
and appropriate in appearance with the existing or intended character of the 
general vicinity and that such a use will not change the essential character of 
adjacent property or the zoning district in which it is proposed. 

The location is currently zoned M-2 General Manufacturing District. The zoning and future land use of 
the surrounding properties ranges from manufacturing and commercial to residential as indicated in the 
zoning table on page 3 of this report. It appears that these criteria will be met related to the proposed 
placement of the above ground propane storage tanks. Tanks on the east side of the building are not 
generally visible from the road; tanks on the southwest corner of the property are screened by a 
berm/landscaping from the road. 

M (2) Not be hazardous or disturbing to uses in the same general vicinity and will be 
a substantial improvement to property in the immediate vicinity and to the 
community as a whole.  

The proposed above ground propane storage tanks will be placed away from the building across the 
travel lane and protected by bollards and fence. This is an improvement in safety to the property  

M (3) Be served adequately by essential facilities and services, such as highways, 
streets, police and fire protection, drainage structures, refuse disposal, water 
and sewage facilities, and schools.  

The site is currently adequately served by essential facilities and services. 
M (4) Not create additional requirements at public cost for public facilities and 

services. 
Staff is not aware of any additional requirements related to the above ground propane storage tanks. 

M (5) Not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, and equipment or conditions 
of operation that will be detrimental to any person, property, or the general 
welfare by noise, fumes, glare, or odors. 

It does not appear that the proposed location and continued use of the above ground propane storage 
tanks will cause a detriment of this nature. 

M (6) Not be located such that it will directly or indirectly have a substantial adverse 
impact on the natural resources of this city. 

Staff is not aware of any conditions associated with this project that would create any substantial 
adverse impact. 

M (7) Be in compliance with other applicable local, county, state, or federal rules and 
regulations.  

The applicant is responsible for pursuing the necessary county, state, or federal approvals and permits 
related to the installation of the above ground propane storage tanks in addition to this local SUP. 



August 19, 2021 
Page 6 of 8 

§94-227.  Standards for site plan review and approval. In reviewing an application for site plan review 
and approval the following standards shall apply: 

STATUS/NOTE REQUIREMENT 
M = Appears to meet requirement; D = Does not appear to meet requirement; I = Information Needed; R = 
Recommendation; W = Waiver Requested; Italics = Staff comments 

M    (1)   The site shall be developed so that all elements shall be harmoniously and 
efficiently organized in relation to the size, shape, type and topography of the site and 
surrounding property. 

The site appears to be harmonious and efficiently organized. The new building addition is appropriately 
scaled with the remainder of the building and along with the new service lane will improve traffic 
circulation throughout the site. The changes are integrated with the topography and appear to be 
harmonious with surrounding properties.  See parking and sidewalk discussion below. 

M    (2)   The site shall be developed so as not to impede the normal and orderly 
development, improvement, and use of surrounding property for uses permitted in this 
chapter. 

The new addition and service drive does not appear to impact the uses of surrounding property. 
M    (3)   All buildings or groups of buildings shall be arranged to permit emergency vehicle 

access by some practical means to all sites. 
The service drive extension will improve emergency vehicle access to the building. Sheet C2.02 satisfies the 
City Engineer’s previous email requesting information regarding the staging plan for maintaining 
emergency vehicle access during construction. 

M    (4)   Every structure or dwelling unit shall have direct access to a public street or indirect 
access to a public street via an approved dedicated private street. 

The site has access on a public street to the north (Kipp) and a private street to the south (Trillium) and 
meets this criterion. 

M    (5)   Appropriate measures shall be taken to ensure that the addition or removal of 
surface waters will not adversely affect neighboring properties, that controls are in place 
to minimize sedimentation and erosion, and that topographic alterations are minimized 
to accommodate storm water management. 

The site will be subject to requirements of the Ingham County Drain Commission. A revised Storm Water 
Maintenance Agreement with the City will be required and storm drains must be sealed inside the building 
as stated per the City Engineer’s previous email and indicated on Sheet C5.2 Note #6. 

M    (6)   Provisions shall be made for the construction of storm sewer facilities including 
grading, gutters, piping, on-site storage, and treatment of turf as required to handle 
stormwater and prevent erosion. 

Same as previous. 
M    (7)   Secondary containment for above ground areas where hazardous substances are 

stored or used shall be provided as required by the city fire chief. 
Above ground propane storage tanks are being relocated and are subject to a Special Use Permit. The plans 
appear to satisfy this requirement. 

M    (8)   Exterior lighting shall be designed and located so that the source of illumination is 
directed away from adjacent properties, the intensity of lighting is the minimum 
necessary, and the direction of lighting is downward as much as is possible and 
appropriate for the project. 

A photometric plan demonstrating that site lighting be consistent with the lighting requirements listed in 
Section 94-177(e) of the zoning ordinance has been provided on Sheet E2.0 and appears to meet this 
requirement. 



August 19, 2021 
Page 7 of 8 

M    (9)   All loading and unloading areas, outside storage areas, and refuse receptacles shall 
be screened from casual view from the public rights-of-way and adjoining land uses. 

The revised plans appear to satisfy the requirements of Sec. 94-293 and 94-173(b).  
M    (10)   Site plans shall meet the driveway, traffic safety, and parking standards of the city 

in such manner as necessary to address the following: 
      a.   Safe and efficient vehicular and non-vehicular circulation, including parking areas, 
non-motorized linkages to abutting parcels, uses, sidewalks, and trails. 
      b.   Shared driveways and service drives. 
      c.   Adequate and properly located utilities.   

PARKING – Parking is based upon USABLE FLOOR AREA (UFA) which is defined in Sec. 1-2. The plan has been 
revised to accurately reflect calculations based upon UFA. Pursuant to Section 94-292(g)(2) the Planning 
Commission may defer parking space requirements only where the applicant has demonstrated that the 
required parking standards is excessive. Given the employee traffic data supplied on sheet C2.01 and that 
no increase in employees is anticipated, staff recommends granting the waiver and allowing the deferment.  
Revised Sheet C2.0 shows a designated future parking bank with detail provided on a separate sheet for 91 
spaces, 20% measuring 9x20 as allowed. For 423 parking spaces, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) 
requires a total of nine (9) handicap parking spaces, 2 of which must meet the standards for a van. Staff will 
add a condition for approval that existing spaces be converted to handicap parking as required prior to 
obtaining Certificate of Occupancy. 
 
SIDEWALKS - The City is holding $4,500 which was received from Gestamp after the 2012 expansion (PC 
Resolution 2011-03) as security for the completion of the sidewalk. As discussed in the Memo dated Sept. 
26, 2011 and the City Engineer’s email, due to a shallow gas line at the corner, an alternative sidewalk 
connection is necessary. Per Sheets C2.0 and C3.1, the site plan has been amended to accommodate the 
remaining sidewalk, to be installed by Gestamp. Upon completion, Gestamp will grant a sidewalk easement 
to the City for the purpose of future maintenance, and the City will refund the money being held. 
 
TRAFFICE, DRIVEWAYS AND SERVICE DRIVES – Sheet C2.01 provides revised traffic counts and a circulation 
plan. The plan proposes a second access point along Trillium Drive. There appears to be no record of a 
Traffic Study done previously per Sec. 94-176(g) which is required for both a second drive and for 100 trips 
generated during a peak hour. The County Road Department has also requested a copy of the traffic study. 
The requirement for completion of a traffic study will be added as a condition for approval to be completed 
prior to obtaining a Certificate of Occupancy. 

UTILITIES – The plan appears to meet the requirements for utilities and has satisfied the concerns in the City 
Engineer’s previous email contained in the August 10, 2021 packet. 

M    (11)   Provisions shall be made for proposed common areas and public features to be 
reasonably maintained. 

The revised plan indicates that a sidewalk easement will be granted to the City of Mason for the connection 
in the northwest corner of the property at the corner of Kipp and Hull roads. 
 See below    (12)   The site plan submittal shall demonstrate compliance with all applicable 

requirements of this chapter, chapters 58 and 74, the building code, and county, state, 
and federal law. 

M Chapter 94 – Zoning and Chapter 100 – Dimensional Requirements 
The plan appears to the meet the building height, setbacks and lot coverage site development standards 
listed in Section 94-121(c) and Tables 100-1 and 100-2 as noted on the plan sheets.  

M Sec. 94-172(3) Vision clearance across corner lot. 
The proposed plan appears to meet the requirements for vision clearance where the drives intersect with 
the roads. There appear to be no obstructions caused by landscaping or signage. 



August 19, 2021 
Page 8 of 8 

D/R Sec. 94-241 Landscape, screening and buffer requirements 
The applicant has requested waivers from the landscaping requirements as shown on Sheet L1.0. The 
Planning Commission may choose to waive the requirements as requested so long as the intent to provide 
landscaping within parking areas, and to enhance aesthetic and ecological qualities, character, privacy, and 
land value is met. The Planning Commission has the option to accept the proposed plan and waive the 
requirements for the landscaping pursuant to Section 94-241 (e)(6), or require the plan to be revised with 
the required vegetation. Due to the significant natural buffer to the east, the berm on the west, and the 
proposed addition of trees around the pre-existing parking area where no changes to parking are proposed, 
staff recommends granting the waivers. 

M Chapter 58 - Signs 
No new or expanded freestanding sign is proposed. Any proposed signage will require a separate building 
permit subject to the requirements of Chapter 58 of the Zoning Ordinance, including Division 2 of said 
chapter.  

The applicant has submitted a Final Site Plan that, with the requested waivers and conditions, appears 
to meet the requirements for approval of a Special Use Permit with joint Preliminary/Final Site Plan 
approval for the above ground propane storage tanks, and for approval of a Final Site Plan for the 
proposed 49,200 sq. ft. building addition. 

Therefore, the following motions are offered for consideration: 
 
MOTION 1 – SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR ABOVE GROUND PROPANE STORAGE TANKS 
Motion to approve Resolution 2021-04. 
 
MOTION 2 – FINAL SITE PLAN FOR 49,200 S.F. BUILDING ADDITION 
Motion to approve Resolution 2021-05. 
 
Attachments: 
1. Letter from Ingham County Road Department dated  
2. Revised Site Plan set 
3. Parking detail for proposed designated parking bank. 
4. Click here to access the full August 10, 2021 Planning Commission packet 

https://www.mason.mi.us/08.10.2021%20PC%20PACKET.pdf


Introduced: 
Second: 
 

_____________________________ 
Sarah J. Jarvis, Clerk 
City of Mason 
Ingham County, Michigan 

 
CITY OF MASON  

PLANNING COMMISSION  
RESOLUTION No. 2021-04 

 
A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT AND JOINT PRELIMINARY/FINAL SITE PLAN 

APPROVAL FOR ABOVE GROUND PROPANE STORAGE TANKS ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 200 E. KIPP 
RD, PARCEL 33-19-10-16-100-024. 

 
August 25, 2021 

 
WHEREAS, a request has been received from Alan Boyer, LSG Engineers & Surveyors, on behalf of 
Gestamp Mason, LLC, for approval of a Special Use Permit and joint Preliminary and Final Site Plan 
Approval for above ground propane storage tanks and, 
 
WHEREAS, the subject property is located at 200 E. Kipp Rd, parcel 33-19-10-16-100-024; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the proposal was shown on application materials originally provided on July 6, 2021 and 
revisions submitted on August 16, 2021; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the parcel is zoned M-2 General Manufacturing District; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 94-152(d)(1) states that a Special Use Permit is required for Above ground storage of 
flammable liquids or combustible materials in an M-2 General Manufacturing District; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Section 94-222(4) states that any use permitted by a Special Use Permit requires site plan 
review; and 
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing on the request was noticed and held at the Planning Commission’s regular 
meeting on August 10, 2021 with testimony given and public comment solicited in accordance with 
Section 94-101 of the Mason Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has received, reviewed and accepts the staff report dated August 
19, 2021, as findings of fact that the use will comply with the Special Use Permit Review Standards listed 
in Section 94-191(f) of the Mason Code, and Site Plan Review Standards listed in Section 94-227. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Mason Planning Commission does hereby grant a 
Special Use Permit and joint Preliminary/Final site plan approval with no further conditions. 
 
Yes (0) 
No (0) 
Absent (0) 
 
CLERK’S CERTIFICATION: I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate copy of a resolution 
adopted by the City of Mason Planning Commission at its special meeting held Wednesday, August 25, 
2021, the original of which is part of the City of Mason Planning Commission minutes. 



Introduced: 
Second: 
 

_____________________________ 
Sarah J. Jarvis, Clerk 
City of Mason 
Ingham County, Michigan 

CITY OF MASON  
PLANNING COMMISSION  
RESOLUTION No. 2021-05 

 
A RESOLUTION GRANTING APPROVAL OF A FINAL SITE PLAN FOR CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW 49,200 

SQ. FT. ADDITION ON AN EXISTING 624,780 SQ. FT. BUILDING TO BE USED AS A FINISH GOODS 
PRODUCT STORAGE (LOW BAY) AND TO PERFORM OTHER RELATED SITE IMPROVEMENTS ON 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 200 E. KIPP RD, PARCEL 33-19-10-16-100-024. 
 

August 25, 2021 
 

WHEREAS, a request has been received from Alan Boyer, LSG Engineers & Surveyors, on behalf of 
Gestamp Mason, LLC, for approval of an amendment to a previously approved Final Site Plan for the 
construction of a new 49,200 sq. ft. addition on an existing 624,780 sq. ft. building to be used as a Finish 
Goods Product Storage (Low Bay) and to perform other related site improvements; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the subject property is located at 200 E. Kipp Rd., parcel 33-19-10-16-100-024; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the proposal was shown on application materials originally provided on July 6, 2021 and 
revisions submitted on August 16, 2021; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the parcel is zoned M-2: Manufacturing District; and 
 
WHEREAS, Sec. 94-228(b) states that an amendment to a site plan which, in the opinion of the zoning 
official, represents a material change shall be referred to the planning commission for review and approval 
if the planning commission exercised original approval; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has received, reviewed and accepts the staff report dated August 
19, 2021 as findings of fact that, with the waivers and conditions listed herein, the plans will comply with 
the Final Site Plan Review Standards listed in Section 94-227; and 
 
WHEREAS the Planning Commission further makes the following findings of fact: 
· The applicant has demonstrated that the required amount of parking is excessive and qualifies for a 

waiver of the parking requirement to allow the deferment of the expansion of parking to the area 
indicated as Designated Parking Bank as shown on the plan; and 

· The Planning Commission finds that the proposed future parking bank meets the minimum 
requirement for spaces, the minimum requirement is greater than 40 spaces, making the new area 
eligible to allow 20% of the parking spaces to measure 180 s.f. each. 

· The proposed landscaping plan will meet the intent to provide landscaping within parking areas, and 
to enhance aesthetic and ecological qualities, character, privacy, and land value as demonstrated by 
the significant natural buffer to the east, the berm on the west, and the proposed addition of trees 
around the pre-existing parking area. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Mason Planning Commission does hereby grant of an 
amendment to a previously approved Final Site Plan for the construction of a new 49,200 sq. ft. addition 
on an existing 624,780 sq. ft. building to be used as a Finish Goods Product Storage (Low Bay) and to 



perform other related site improvements for property located at 200 E. Kipp Rd., parcel 33-19-10-16-100-
024 with the following conditions and waivers: 
 

1. The applicant will provide the necessary easements to the City of Mason for the future installation 
and maintenance of sidewalks and shall be 10’ in width. 

 
2. The applicant will provide a drainage facilities maintenance agreement to the City of Mason prior to 

the issuance of a certificate of occupancy. 
 
3. The applicant will provide a record drawing for the site documenting conformance with the approved 

site plan and ADA parking standards prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy. 
 

4. The applicant will provide a Traffic Study that meets the requirements of Sec. 94-176(g) of the City of 
Mason Ordinance prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy. 
 

5. The applicant has demonstrated that the required amount of parking is excessive and may defer 
expansion of parking in the area indicated as Designated Parking Bank with 20% of the proposed 
spaces measuring 180 s.f. 
 

6. The proposed landscaping plan will meet the intent to provide landscaping within parking areas, and 
to enhance aesthetic and ecological qualities, character, privacy, and land value as demonstrated by 
the significant natural buffer to the east, the berm on the west, and the proposed addition of trees 
around the pre-existing parking area; therefore, the remaining requirements of Sec. 94-241 are 
waived. 

 
 
Yes (0) 
No (0) 
Absent (0)  
 
 
CLERK’S CERTIFICATION: I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate copy of a resolution 
adopted by the City of Mason Planning Commission at a Special Meeting held Wednesday, August 25, 
2021, the original of which is part of the City of Mason Planning Commission minutes. 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Sarah J. Jarvis, Clerk 
City of Mason 
Ingham County, Michigan 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

Telephone: (517) 676-9722 E-Mail: roads@ingham.org  Web Site: http://roads.ingham.org 

An Equal Opportunity Employer 
 

INGHAM COUNTY ROAD DEPARTMENT 
AUSTIN E. CAVANAUGH ADMINISTRATION BUILDING 
301 Bush Street, P.O. Box 38, Mason, MI 48854-0038 

 

 
William M. Conklin, PE 

Managing Director 
 
 
 
August 10, 2021 
 
Ms. Elizabeth Hude  
Community Development Director  
City of Mason 
201 W. Ash Street 
Mason, MI  48854 
 
Via Email 
 
RE:  Gestamp Expansion  
 
Dear Ms. Hude: 
 
The Ingham County Road Department (ICRD) is providing the following comments on the 
proposed Gestamp Expansion located at the corner of Kipp Road and Hull Road based on the 
following information provided for our review: 
 

o Plans prepared by LSG Engineers & Surveyors dated May 24, 2021 
 

Comments: 
 
The following comments reference requirements set forth in the Ingham County Road 
Department (ICRD) Rules, Standards and Procedures for Driveways, Banners and Parades: 
 

1. Has a traffic impact study been prepared for this site?  Please provide a copy to the Road 
Department as soon as possible for review.  The study should incorporate the 
intersections of Kipp Rd/Hull Rd, Kipp Rd/Cedar St and Hull Rd/Trillium Dr in addition 
to analyzing the traffic impacts at the driveway access points on Kipp Road and Trillium 
Drive. 

 
2. The only work that appears to be occurring within the road right of way is the connection 

of the internal site sidewalk to the public sidewalk along Hull Road, which will require 
a permit from the Road Department as described below.   

 
3. Any work proposed within the public road right-of-way will require approval by the 

County Highway Engineer and the issuance of the applicable ICRD permit.  The right-
of-way permit application is available online at roads.ingham.org on the “Permits” 
section of the website.  Please submit a ROW permit application, $500 site plan review 
fee, a $150 right-of-way permit fee, updated plans (if applicable) and traffic control plans 
(if applicable).  The contractor insurance should be submitted once the contractor has 
been selected.  Please note, no work may be performed within the road ROW until a 
permit has been issued by the ICRD.   

 
 



 
Gestamp Expansion  Page 2 of 2  August 10, 2021 
 
 
The above consists of preliminary comments based on limited information.  The ICRD reserves 
the right to comment further when a complete permit application is submitted.  Should you 
have questions or need clarification on the above information, please contact me via email at 
kjones2@ingham.org. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
Kelly R. Jones, PE 
Director of Engineering & County Highway Engineer 
INGHAM COUNTY ROAD DEPARTMENT 
 
cc: Swanson, Knauff – Ingham County Road Department 

File 



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND

·
·
·
·
·
·

·
·
·
·

·
·
·

·
·
·
·
·



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

'

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

P

T

Seeding

Soil Binding Polymers

Mulch Blankets

WattlesT
T

Check Dam

Stone Filter Berm

P
P

Storm Drain Inlet Protection

Silt Fence

Stabilized Construction Area

T
T
T

MulchT

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

•

•

•

•

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

’

’
’

’

WIELAND



Engineers
& Surveyors

SG

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

WIELAND

Seal: Timothy I. Banfield
LIC #3901000859

PLA ASLA

Red OakQuercus rubraQR

Sunburst LocustGleditsia t. i. 'Sunburst'

October Glory Red MapleAcer rubrum 'October Glory'AR

3.5"

3.5"

PT3

CommonBotanicalKeyQuantity Size

GS3

3
1

Plant List

3
White PinePinus strobusPS 6-7'8

Maidenhair TreeGinkgo bilobaGB4 6-7'

3.5"
Green Mountain Sugar MapleAcer saccharum 'Green Mountain'AS 3.5"

Tulip TreeLiriodendrom tuliperferaLT3 3.5"

Ginger Wine NinebarkPhysocarpus o. 'Ginger Wine' 3gal

1
AS

Site

Landscape Notes
1.  Contractor shall verify the location of all underground 

utilities, pipes and structures, as well as the location of
existing trees and vegetation. Contractor shall be
responsible for any cost incurred due to damage/removal
of said elements.

2.  Any discrepancies between plans, notes, details and existing 
conditions shall be immediately reported to the owner's
authorized representative for review and decision. Contractor
shall assume full responsibility for all revisions due to
failure to give such notification.

3.  Contractor is responsible for any damage to existing
materials/improvements damaged during construction.

4. Site boundary, topography, utilities and other base
information provided by others.

5.  Contractor shall verify quantities shown on plant schedules
and those indicated on plans. Contractor is responsible for 
installation of quantities drawn.

6.  Contractor shall make minor adjustments to plant material
locations in field as necessary. The location of all plant 
material shall be subject to approval by the owners
authorized representative.

7.  All plant material shall be of the sizes called for in the
plant schedules. Any plant material not meeting the size
and/or quality as called for shall be removed from site. All
trees shall be inspected and approved by the owner's
authorized representative. No substitutions of plant materail
shall be made without approval from the owner's authorized 

8.  All planting beds to be treated with pre-emergent herbicide.
Contractor shall insure that proposed plant material is
resistant to the herbicide properties and that herbicide
application follows the manufacturer's specifications and is

9. Contractor shall determine appropriate planting mixes
(based on soils/subsurface conditions) and review altern-
ativeswith owner's representative prior to installation.

applied in accordance with sound horticultural practices.

representative.

10. All plant beds and maintenance edges around structure will
be mulched with washed Michigan Stone (2"dia) over com-
mercial weed barrier. All plants will have a small ring of
shredded hardwood bark mulch 3"-4" deep over the root  
system as specified.

11. If lawn is to be sodded, us a locally grown Kentucky Blue-
grass variety that is free of weeds.

12. Seed lawn areas with the following mixture:
25% Sybsport Kentucky Bluegrass
25% Nassam Kentucky Bluegrass
25% Sybsport Kentucky Bluegrass

Apply seed at the rate of 7-8lbs/1000sqft
10% Perennial Rye Grass

13. Commercial Grade Plastic Edge will be Edg-King from
Oly-Ola, Inc., (or better)

14. Plant material installed for a perimeter landscape screen shall
be placed in a planting bed at least 8'-wide, shall be at least
2'-high at the initial planting, be expected to grow to a height 
of at least 3' in the front yard, 5' in the side yard and 8' in the
rear yard, within two (2) years of planting.

Outdoor
    Living, Inc.

2720 Alpha Access
Lansing, MI 48910

Phone:
(517) 484-0230

PS
5

GB
3

AS
1

AR
3

LT
3

PS
3
PT
3

QR
3

GB
1

GS
3

Ivy on fence as screen 7'-8'



P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D

B
U
IL
D
IN
G

A
D
D
IT
IO
N

4
7
,6
7
3
 
S
Q
.F
T
.

F
.F
. 
-
 
9
1
5
.2
0

GV

GV

GV

GV

GV

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.

U.P.
U.P.

U.P.

T

T

P
R
O
P
O
S
E
D

C
A
N
O
P
Y
 
A
D
D
IT
IO
N

F
.F
. 
-
 
9
1
5
.2
0

E

T

T

T

T

E

E

E

TRILLIUM DRIVE

H
U

LL
 R

O
A

D

KIPP ROAD

P
R

IN
T

E
D

:

SHEET

DATE:

PROJ #:

SCALE:

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

CHECKED BY:

AS SHOWN

8/
16

/2
02

1  
9:

08
:1

9 
A

M

©
2
0
2
1
 -

A
L
L
 R

IG
H

T
S

 R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

. 
T

H
IS

 D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T

 A
N

D
 D

E
S

IG
N

S
 P

O
R

T
R

A
Y

E
D

 W
IT

H
IN

 A
R

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 O
F

 W
A

K
, 

N
O

 M
O

D
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

 A
N

D
/O

R
 T

R
A

N
S

F
E

R
S

 O
F

W
O

R
K

 A
R

E
 P

E
R

M
IT

T
E

D
 U

N
L
E

S
S

 G
R

A
N

T
E

D
 B

Y
 W

A
K

S
IT

E
 P

H
O

T
O

M
E

T
R

IC
 P

LA
N

G
E

S
T

A
M

P
 

G
H

U
_2

02
1_

E
X

P
A

N
S

IO
N

F
IN

IS
H

 G
O

O
D

S
 P

R
O

D
U

C
T

 S
T

O
R

A
G

E
 (

L
O

W
 B

A
Y

)

M
A

S
O

N
, M

I  
4

88
54

08/13/21

2116970049

S. FISHER

K. LUTZ

C. MILLER

E2.0N SCALE:  1" = 80'-0"

SITE PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

N
O

.
S

T
A

T
U

S
 /
 R

E
V

IS
IO

N
S

D
A

T
E

IS
S

U
E

D
 F

O
R

 P
E

R
M

IT
S

08
/1

6/
21

S
T
A

TE ICHIG
A
N

OF

ENGINEER

SS IO N
AL

FE

PRO

E
N

N
E
E
R

G
I

E
D

C
E

L
I

N
S

M

6201058610

JESSE L.
SULLIVAN




	00 08.25.2021 PC Agenda DRAFT
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A. Approval of Minutes from Regular Planning Commission Meeting on August 10, 2021.
	5. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	6. NEW BUSINESS
	7. LIAISON REPORT
	A. City Council Report
	B. City Manager Report
	8. ADJOURN

	04A 20210810 PC Minutes draft eh
	A. Discussion: Ordinance text amendments regarding attached garages and front yard parking
	Director Hude provided an overview of her request for guidance on a future text amendment to the ordinance that clarifies the community’s expectations on projecting garages. There have been different interpretations over the years and staff is seeking...
	A. Discussion: Youth Advisor Role
	Youth Advisor, Thomas De LaFuente was unable to attend the meeting. Commissioners agreed to take up the discussion further at the September meeting when he was present.

	05A PC Packet - 200 E. Kipp Gestamp
	01a 200 E. Kipp_Staff Report_SPR 2021_final with SUP for 8-25 mtg revised 8-19-21
	PUBLIC NOTICE
	Notice was given as required in Sec. 94-101 which requires notices to be published in a newspaper of general circulation, and to be mailed to owners and occupants within 300 feet of the boundary of the subject property. The public hearing notice was p...

	01a.1 2021-04 Gestamp SUP for propane tanks
	01a.2 2021-05 Gestamp SPR for Addition
	01b.2 ICRD Comments on Gestamp_081021
	02b.1 20210816_2679_REVISED SITE PLANS_Optimized
	Sheets and Views
	C-C
	C1-0-C1.0
	C1-1-C1.1
	C2-0-C2.0
	C2-01-C2.0
	C2-02-C2.02
	C2-1-C2.1
	C3-0-C3.0
	C3-1-C3.1
	C4-0-C4.0
	C5-0-C5.0
	C5-1-C5.1
	C5-2-C5.2
	C6-0-C6.0
	C6-1-C6.1
	C6-2-C6.2
	C7-0-C7.0
	C7-1-C7.1
	C7-2-C7.2
	L1-0-L1.0

	Sheets
	E2.0 - SITE PHOTOMETRIC PLAN


	02b.2 Future Parking Area Detail submitted 8-17-21


